Master's Thesis

Sustainable Development

The impact of the photosynthetic traits' downregulation on the leaf nutrient composition





Sophie Wynaendts Student number: 5633524

July 6th, 2022

Supervisor: Dr. Hugo de Boer **Second reader:** Dr. Karin Rebel

Internship Royal DSM Supervisor: Florentine Oberman



Preface

This thesis was written as part of the Sustainable Development master program at Utrecht University, in the Environmental Change and Ecosystems track. The research focused on the relationship between the photosynthesis traits and macro- and micronutrients, to increase the understanding of the impact of the abiotic changing factor atmospheric CO₂ on the plant's nutrient content. During the thesis, I did an internship at the nutrition company DSM. The team I worked in was engaged in global malnutrition projects, together with WFP and UNICEF and did research on the impact of climate change on nutrient deficiencies and how certain innovations can tackle the nutrition crisis. I want to thank my internship supervisor Florentine Oberman for the excellent supervision. After the internship I worked in the Utrecht University' Environmental Laboratory. Throughout the entire process, I have been supervised by Dr. Hugo de Boer and I would like to sincerely thank him for his advice, support and feedback. I would also like to thank the lab supervisors Thom Claessen and Desmond Eefting for their assistance. Furthermore I would like to thank the PhD students Jan Lankhorst and Astrid Odé for the great collaboration with the lab work. Finally, I would like to thank Dr. Karin Rebel for being the second reader of my thesis and for inspiring me to sign up for the bachelor program Global Sustainability Science, which has been the start of my enthusiasm for environmental sciences.

Abstract

The atmospheric CO₂ concentration determines to a large extent how plants perform their photosynthesis. The photosynthetic parameters, V_{cmax} and J_{max}, explain respectively the maximum rate of RuBisCo carboxylase activity and the maximum rate of photosynthetic electron transport. Prior research evidenced a positive relation between these photosynthetic traits and leaf nitrogen (Smith et al., 2019). This research aims to analyse the relationship between the photosynthetic parameters, nitrogen and phosphorus and the micronutrient content (zinc, iron and calcium) of four plant species. The plant material has been derived from a field study in the Ebro basin (north-eastern Spain). The photosynthetic parameters have been measured by using a leaf gas exchange machine. Input from the experience during the internship at the nutrition company DSM has been used to determine which micronutrients (iron, zinc and calcium) should be focused on to increase the relevance of this research. For the elemental analysis of the leaf material, two machines have been used: the CN-analyser and the Picofox TXRF spectrometer. The created dataset contains data from 34 samples, including five groups (comprising four species: alfalfa, almond, grape, and apple; the latter including irrigated and nonirrigated samples), analysed on photosynthetic activity and elemental content. The results of the research have been derived by using analysis of (co)variance (ANOVA and ANCOVA) statistical tests and by analysing the variance for the absolute values for micronutrients compared to the variance with the ratios with nitrogen (N) and phosphorus (P). The results of the F-test indicate a decrease in variance with the ratios with N and P compared to the absolute values of micronutrients, which gives insights in the stoichiometry of the leaf. The ANOVA tests reveal a significant difference in nutrient content per plant species. When performing the ANCOVA tests, it became clear that a significant correlation exists between J_{max} and V_{cmax} and the P concentration. Also, the P concentration is a significant determinant for the absolute zinc (Zn) concentration and the Zn:N and Zn:P ratio in the plant, this is a positive correlation. To conclude, the results of this research indicate that an increase in CO_2 leads to a downregulation of the photosynthetic traits, resulting in a lower concentration of leaf P, and a significantly lower concentration of Zn in the leaf. Further research is needed to perform this analysis on a larger sample size and to analyse other plant material besides the leaf, such as fruits and grains.

Table of contents

Preface	1
Abstract	2
Abbreviations	4
Introduction	5
Theory and Concepts	7
2.1 Photosynthesis performance	7
2.2 Influence of CO ₂ on photosynthesis	7
2.3 Leaf structural traits	8
2.4 Leaf nutrient content	9
2.5 Aim, research questions and hypothesis	10
Materials and methods	11
3.1 Data material LIAISE project	11
3.2 Analysis of material	12
3.3 Statistical Analysis	13
Results	15
4.1 Variation for photosynthetic traits, nitrogen and phosphorus	15
4.2 Micronutrients stoichiometry	17
4.3 Photosynthetic traits relation to nitrogen and phosphorus	19
4.4 Relationship between nitrogen, phosphorus and micronutrients	20
Discussion	22
5.1 Interpretation of results	22
5.2 Limitations	25
5.3 Recommendations	26
Conclusion	27
References	28
Appendix	34
A: Elemental analysis utilisation	34
B: Calibration curve for carbon nitrogen analysis	35
C: Leaf structural traits	35

Abbreviations

C	Carbon
Ca	Calcium
CO ₂	Carbon-dioxide
ET	Electron Transport
Fe	Iron
IRTA	Institute of Agrifood Research and Technology
J _{max}	Maximum electron transport
LMA	Leaf Mass per Area
Ν	Nitrogen
P	Phosphorus
PAR	Photosynthetic active radiation
RCP	Representative Concentration Pathways
RuBisCo	Ribulose-1,5-bisphosphate carboxylase-oxygenase
SLA	Specific Leaf Area
V _{cmax}	Maximum velocity rate of carboxylation
Zn	Zinc

Introduction

The Representative Concentration Pathways (RCPs) projected a doubling of atmospheric CO₂ production from 380 to 700 ca. µmol C mol⁻¹ (IPCC, 2007) and a mean surface temperature increase of 2.6 - 4.8 °C by 2100 when following current pathways of carbon emissions (Qin et al., 2014; Leisner, 2020). The potential doubling of atmospheric CO_2 concentrations may dramatically impair the performance of photosynthesis in plants (Vandegeer et al., 2012). In order to estimate the consequences of increasing CO_2 concentrations on terrestrial crops, it is necessary to analyse the photosynthetic engineering traits. Several studies have revealed the contribution of these parameters - the maximum carboxylation (V_{cmax}) and the maximum electron transport (ET) rate (J_{max}) - to yield enhancement (von Caemmerer & Evans, 2010; Evans, 2013; Long et al., 2015). Elevated CO₂ levels modify guard cells, which reduces stomatal aperture and the quantity of stomata per leaf, resulting in a reduction of stomatal conductance (Farquhar & Sharkey, 1982; Keenan et al., 2013). A decreased opening of the stoma may limit the process of evapotranspiration, which enhances heat stress of the plant (Thomas et al., 2016). This in combination with the expected droughts and elevated temperatures can affect photosynthesis, the plants health and consequently reduce the productivity of the crop. The decrease in stomatal conductance results in a downregulation of the photosynthetic traits J_{max} and V_{cmax} (Liu et al., 2014). Prior research showed evidence of the correlation between these photosynthetic traits and the leaf nitrogen (N) and phosphorus (P) concentration (Walker et al., 2014). Theoretical and experimental evidence suggests that J_{max} and V_{cmax} scale with leaf nitrogen (N) via the significant amount of N invested in the ribulose 1-5-bisphosphate oxygenase-carboxylase (RuBisCo) protein, and that phosphorus (P) availability affects many aspects of plant physiology essential to photosynthesis, such as membrane solubility and ATP and NADPH production (Marschner 1995; Taiz & Zeiger 2010)

Anthropogenic CO₂ emissions threaten human nutrition in two ways. The first is the disruption of the global climate system with all the associated impacts on food production (droughts, floods, humidity changes) (Myers et al., 2017). Secondly, the direct altering of the nutrient profile of staple food crops. Carbon, the major constituent of terrestrial vascular plants is obtained from atmospheric CO₂, all other chemical elements that are crucial for a plant's existence are derived from the soil. The way these concentrations of nutrients change is not in unison with the increasing concentrations of CO₂ (Loladze, 2002). Consequently, modern plants are experiencing a global elemental imbalance compared to pre-industrial times which could result in nutrient deficiencies for humans (Loladze, 2002). Moreover, elevated CO₂ concentrations are altering the growth rate of plants by influencing the plants productivity. This additionally influences the ability of the world to facilitate adequate food production for the growing population (Leisner, 2020). This effect on the nutrient of plants is likely to reduce the dietary supply of nutrients for many populations and increase the prevalence of global nutritional insufficiency (Smith & Meyers, 2018).

According to the United Nations' Food and Agriculture Organisation (FAO, 2012), a food production increase of approximately 70% is needed to feed the world's population which is estimated at 9 billion people in 2050 (Tester & Langridge, 2010; Hussain et al. 2020a,b). Several essential nutrients are lacking in modern crops, resulting in the 'hidden hunger' problem; the suffering from micronutrient deficiencies (Graham et al., 2001; WHO, 2006). To meet the challenge of this huge enhancement of the global food demand, improvement of crop production is required and nutrient losses must be avoided. A thorough understanding of the impact of climate change, as a result of atmospheric CO₂ increase and the changes made in the stoichiometry of plants is essential to ensure global food security (Sterner & Elser, 2017; Hussain et al., 2021). Ecological stoichiometry is the study of the balance of energy and multiple chemical elements in living systems, and how this balance of plant-internal elements is influenced by the biotic and abiotic environment (Elser et al., 2000; Knecht & Göransson, 2004; Ladanai et al., 2010). Understanding the stoichiometry of plants is necessary to calculate the influences of biotic and abiotic changes on the plant's composition. Ågren & Weih (2020) state that most stoichiometry research has been done on the elements carbon, nitrogen and phosphorus and that more research needs to be done on the stoichiometry with other elements. This research will focus on the stoichiometry between macro and micronutrients in plants, and how this stoichiometry is related to the photosynthetic traits V_{cmax} and J_{max}. This way, the impact of CO₂ on the micronutrient content of plants can be researched.

Theory and Concepts

2.1 Photosynthesis performance

Photosynthesis is the basis of plant growth, it is a biological process whereby light energy is captured and stored by a living organism, and converted from light energy to biochemical energy which is used to drive energy-requiring cellular processes (Evans, 2013). The process occurs according to the Calvin Cycle, which is a series of biochemical redox reactions that take place in the stroma of the chloroplasts (Bassham et al., 1950; Blankenship, 2021). The sun's output radiation with a wavelength between 400 and 700 nm is defined as the Photosynthetically Active Radiation (PAR); this light is used in the most familiar photosynthesizing organisms: the chlorophyll a-containing organisms. Plants can carry out photosynthesis in three different ways: C₃, C₄ and CAM photosynthesis. The majority of plant species use C₃ photosynthesis (89% of plants), in which the first carbon compound produced contains three carbon atoms (Carvajal, 2010). However, some plants have evolved an additional form of photosynthesis, C4 (which produces a four-carbon compound) to help reduce these losses in dry environments (Blankenship, 2021). CAM type of photosynthesis is an adaptation to low water availability and occurs in orchids and succulent plant species from arid regions, the stomata in the leaves are closed during daylight to lessen evapotranspiration and open at night to absorb CO_2 (Wang et al., 2008). The most important difference is how the CO₂ fixation pathway occurs (Evans, 2013). All C₃ plants use RuBisCo - a carboxylase enzyme that also catalyses a reaction with oxygen that diminishes the overall efficiency of photosynthesis (Evans, 2013). The maximum catalytic activity of the RuBisCo enzyme is defined as V_{cmax} (Leuning, 1997). In this process, 3-phosphoglycerate (3GPA) is created. V_{cmax} and the maximum rate of photosynthetic electron transport (J_{max}) define plant photosynthetic capacity at the leaf level, and are referred to as the photosynthetic traits (Fan et al., 2011). This research will focus only on species using C_3 photosynthesis, because most plants perform C_3 photosynthesis and because response curves to derive V_{cmax} and J_{max} will be used that cannot derive the photosynthesis traits with this model for C_4 or CAM species.

2.2 Influence of CO₂ on photosynthesis

A plant's elemental chemical composition reflects a balance between carbon, retrieved from atmospheric CO₂, and the remaining nutrients, which come from the soil (Loladze, 2002). Projected increases in atmospheric CO₂ can result in an ionomic imbalance for most plant species, where carbon increases disproportionately compared to soil-based nutrients (Ainsworth & Long, 2005; Bernacchi et al., 2005; Bernacchi et al., 2006; Ainsworth & Rogers, 2007; Taub et al., 2008; Loladze, 2014; Müller et al., 2014; Myers et al., 2014). Higher levels of CO₂ generally boost the net photosynthetic rate (A_n) of plants, namely "CO₂ fertilisation effect", especially for C₃ plants. This can be explained by the

ribulose-1,5-bisphosphate carboxylase-oxygenase (RuBisCo) of C_3 plants being CO₂-saturated with increased atmospheric CO₂ concentration (Curtis & Wang, 1998; Lee et al., 2001; Morgan et al., 2007; Yu et al., 2012; Singh & Reddy, 2016). This eventually increases the C₃ plant's photosynthetic performance (Zhu et al., 2007; Leakey et al., 2009). A consequence of an increased photosynthetic performance per unit leaf area may be an increased plant growth (Hussein et al., 2021). Also, prior research showed evidence that the rate of photosynthesis is relatively higher in small leaves compared to larger leaves (Bronstein et al., 2007). Several studies have demonstrated the decline of the photosynthetic process with long-term exposure of plants to an increased CO₂ concentration (Delucia et al., 1985; Thompson et al., 2017; Li et al., 2019). The photosynthetic induction and post illumination CO_2 assimilation responses are affected by the increased CO_2 levels. Due to secondary responses, a surplus carbohydrate aggregation or declined nitrogen (N) content can cause a downregulation of responses of RuBisCo activation (V_{cmax}), stomatal conductance and electron transport (J_{max}) (Thompson et al., 2017). The excess starch that is being created obstructs the CO₂ diffusion and the accumulation of the carbohydrates in the leaves can cause repression of photosynthetic gene expression (Makino & Mae, 1999; Hussein et al., 2021). The photosynthesis suppression caused by the enrichment of CO₂ is often related to the decrease in leaf RuBisCo and leaf N, this is caused by the decrease in N distribution throughout the plant (Smith et al., 2019; Zheng et al. 2019). According to the model by Farquhar et al. (1980), increased CO_2 concentrations affect only V_{cmax} negatively, while increased air temperature showed negative long-term effects on both V_{cmax} and J_{max}. Less directly, the related higher temperatures cause an increase in the plant's transpiration and less water is available for the plant. Degraded soil microbes result in further reduction of photosynthesis in the long-term, as less chlorophyll can be produced (Hussein et al., 2021).

2.3 Leaf structural traits

The Leaf Mass per Area (LMA) is a key indicator for plant growth and the plant's strategies (Grime, 2001; Westoby et al., 2002; Poorter et al., 2009; Asner et al., 2011). The LMA ratio of leaf dry mass to leaf area (g/m²) is a key feature in understanding plant light uptake and carbon gain, providing information on the process of photosynthesis (Gutschick & Wiegel, 1988; Cheng et al., 2014). The LMA index varies greatly among species and indicates how nutrients are allocated to a certain area of light-intercepting foliage (Poorter et al., 2009). The index Specific Leaf Area (SLA) is the inverse of the Leaf Mass per Area (LMA) and has the unit m²/kg. The SLA index describes the allocation of leaf biomass per unit of leaf area, which is an important link between vegetation water and carbon cycles (Pierce et al., 1994). Also, the SLA index reflects the expected return on previously captured resources, and consequently a relatively high SLA index is linked to a productive leaf (Poorter & Van der Werf, 1988). On the other hand, leaves with a low SLA index perform better in resource-constrained environments where the retention of acquired resources is a higher priority (Wilson et al., 1999). Plants

modify their SLA index in response to both N-limitation and shade, two elements that interact significantly (Meziane & Shipley, 1999). Shading enhances SLA, which improves shaded plants' ability to capture irradiance (Björkman, 1981; Meziane & Shipley, 1999).

2.4 Leaf nutrient content

The two most significant elements that restrict plant growth, maintenance, and reproduction in terrestrial ecosystems are the macronutrients phosphorus (P) and nitrogen (N) (Reich and Oleksyn, 2004; Elser et al., 2007). According to LeBauer & Treseder (2008), plant N is closely related to photosynthesis, litter decomposition, and plant productivity. Furthermore, genetic processing, energy storage, and membrane structure all depend vitally on plant P (Elser et al., 2007; Reich et al., 2009). The fertilisation effect of increased CO₂ creates the potential to reduce the nutritional value of crops (Mcgrath & Lobell, 2013; Loladze, 2014; Myers et al., 2014). According to a modelling study by Beach et al. (2019), CO₂ fertilisation can cause a decrease of 13,6% for iron and 14,6% for zinc by 2050. Additionally, Myers et al. (2014) stated that the elevated CO₂ concentrations mainly influence the concentration of the micronutrients zinc (Zn), iron (Fe) and calcium (Ca) in the plant's foliar and edible tissues. Dr. Klaus Kraemer (personal communication, May 13, 2022) stated that these three micronutrients are essential for human nutrition and are prone for the impact of the changing photosynthetic traits. Due to these factors, this study will concentrate on these three micronutrients.

In plants, Zn plays a key role as a structural constituent and regulatory cofactor of a wide range of different enzymes and proteins in many biochemical pathways (Alloway, 2008). For human nutrition, Zn is an essential micronutrient for the metabolism that catalyses more than 100 enzymes, facilitates protein folding, and helps regulate gene expression (Saper & Rash, 2009). A reduction in micronutrients could possibly result in 175 million people becoming Zn deficient, if the current trajectory of 550 ppm (parts per million) by 2050 is maintained (Smith & Myers, 2018). One of the most crucial minerals for the growth and development of plants is iron. It contributes to a variety of essential metabolic processes, such as photosynthesis, respiration, and amino acid biosynthesis, as an enzyme cofactor or part of electron transport chains (Gao & Dubos, 2021). For human nutrition, iron is an essential micronutrient as it is involved in a wide variety of metabolic processes, including oxygen transport, deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) synthesis and electron transport (Abbaspour et al., 2014). Calcium (Ca) is a critical structural and signalling nutrient for plants, and its lack can lead to poor biotic and abiotic stress tolerance, as well as lower crop quality and production. For humans, a low Ca intake has been associated with a variety of disorders (osteoporosis, hypertension, and colorectal cancer) (Dayod et al., 2010).

2.5 Aim, research questions and hypothesis

Prior research has provided evidence on how the photosynthetic traits can be predicted by the N and P concentration in plants. However, the effect of the photosynthesis traits on N and P and on the micronutrients relevant for human nutrition iron, zinc and calcium remains unclear. The photosynthetic traits V_{cmax} and J_{max} are directly linked to the concentration of atmospheric CO₂, thus understanding the relation between the photosynthetic traits and the plants nutrients can provide insights as to how atmospheric CO₂ impacts the nutrient content of a plant. This research aims to investigate the relationship between the photosynthesis traits J_{max} and V_{cmax} and the concentration of leaf nitrogen, phosphorus, iron, zinc and calcium of four different plant species. Scientifically this is relevant as this will improve comprehension of how the photosynthesis performance of a plant is linked to plant growth and nutrient content. For society this is relevant as this link will have an impact on human nutrition. Understanding plants' coping mechanisms with increasing atmospheric CO₂ concentrations is crucial to be able to feed the global rising populations without nutrient deficiencies.

This aim results in the following research question, the sub questions and the corresponding hypothesis:

Research question: How are the photosynthesis traits (V_{cmax} , J_{max}) and the plant's nutrient content (N, P, Fe, Zn, Ca) related and does this differ per species?

SQ1: Do the values for the photosynthesis traits (V_{cmax} and J_{max}), N and P significantly differ per species group?

H1: For V_{cmax} and J_{max} , Alfalfa > other species. For N and P, there is no significant variation between species.

SQ2: Do plants show consistent stoichiometry when comparing Zn, Fe and Ca absolute values to their ratio with N and P?

H2: The species variability for ratios < absolute values.

SQ3: How are the photosynthesis traits V_{cmax} , J_{max} related to N and P? H3: V_{cmax} and J_{max} are positively related with N and P.

SQ4: How are N and P related to the micronutrients Zn, Fe and Ca?H4: N and P are positively related to Zn, Fe and Ca.

Materials and methods

3.1 Data material LIAISE project

To answer the research question, an elemental analysis combined with photosynthesis performance measurements have been done on plant material derived from the LIAISE project in 2021. The LIAISE (Land Surface Interactions with the Atmosphere over Iberian Semi-arid Environment) project retrieved data from the Ebro basin in north-eastern Spain, which is bound to the north by the Pyrenees and to the south by the Iberian system. This particular area was focused on because of the surface heterogeneity, which has increased as a result of human society's alteration of the hydrological cycle and landscape, mostly through intensive agricultural activity (Boone, 2019). The soil is a confounding variable, meaning that only plant material will be included that has grown under conditions containing sufficient nutrients and water. This research has performed the different measurements on the leaves from the same sample material, which contain the following species: grape, alfalfa, almond and apple (2 groups: irrigated and non-irrigated) (see table 1). The apple species have been grown in the IRTA (Institute of Agrifood Research and Technology) experimental facility, as additional measurements (lysimeters) have been done on this species, these measurements are not relevant for this research. All these species are C₃-photosynthesis plants.

Species	Area	Latitude (N) / Longitude (E)	Date retrieved	Irrigated	Sample size
Alfalfa	La Cendrosa	41°69'33.6"N 0°92'84.1"E	17/7/2021	No	5
Almond	Preixana	41°59'37.3"N 1°07'25.0"E	21/7/2021	No	5
Apple	Mollerussa IRTA experimental facility	41°61'76.4"N 0°87'19.7"E	15/7/2021 and 22/7/2021	Yes	9
Apple	Mollerussa IRTA experimental facility	41°61'76.4"N 0°87'19.7"E	15/7/2021, 22/7/2021 and 23/7/2021	No	10
Grape	Vineyard near Verdù	41°59'37.3"N 1°12'72.2"E	20/7/2021	Yes	5

Table 1: Plant material species, the derived location and date, sample count and information on irrigation.

3.2 Analysis of material

Ecophysiological analysis

To measure the photosynthesis traits of the plant material, the LI-6400XT machine was used in the field in the research area in Spain. This machine measures the leaf gas exchange, and provides data on CO_2 response curves to derive the photosynthetic traits V_{cmax} and J_{max} (µmol/m²/s). For this research, the data derived from the response curves has been fitted into the enzyme kinetic photosynthesis model developed by Farquhar et al. (1980). By measuring a plant's reactivity to atmospheric CO_2 concentrations and fitting equations to parts of the A/Ci curve, the photosynthetic traits can be calculated (Von Caemmerer & Farquhar, 1981; Sharkey et al., 2007).

Elemental analysis: Picofox

For the elemental analysis, the material from the LIAISE project had to be labelled, dried, grounded and prepared. The samples were labelled as following: day of retrieving sample - species - number of species (as an example: 17Ap1). For the Picofox duplos have been made, so per sample two data points have been retrieved (example: 17Ap1.1 and 17Ap1.2). The plant material has been dried in the oven for 24 hours at 60 degrees. Afterwards the leaf was prepared for grinding by inserting pieces of the leaf in an Eppendorf cup that could be inserted in the laboratory ball mill. Per cup, two metal balls were added to assure adequate grinding. The machine was set to centrifuge for 1500 rpm / 30 Hz, this way the solid leaf material was ground to a powder. The ground (powder) samples were weighed out (50 mg, 4 decimals, as the exact weight is crucial for the elemental analysis) in a cupping glass. After the preparation of the material, the samples were ready for the elemental analysis. This was done by using the Picofox, a transportable TXRF spectrometer for ultra-trace element analysis. With total reflection X-ray fluorescence, the Picofox can give results on the presence and quantity of micronutrients in the samples (Saaltink et al., 2018). All samples had to be put on Quartz discs that go into a tray (24 disks at one time) in the Picofox machine. Before a droplet of the sample could be put on the disc, the disc had to be prepared by coating the top of the disc (which states: 'Bruker Nano') with 10 µL Silica oil (Serva) by using a pipette. The slide was put on a special hotplate to dry. This way, the sample will be properly dispersed over the disc. The method for preparing the discs, applying the sample, the usage of the Picofox machine and cleaning of the discs can be found in appendix A.

Elemental analysis: carbon and nitrogen

For measuring the mass fraction of C and N in the samples, the elemental analyser 'EA IsoLink IRMS system' has been used. The system includes Thermo ScientificTM Flash IRMSTM Elemental Analyser, the Thermo ScientificTM ConFlo IVTM Universal Interface and a Thermo ScientificTM Isotope Ratio Mass Spectrometer. The prepared samples (labelled, dried, ground, weighed in a similar way to the Picofox preparation) were weighed into a tin container and put into the autosampler. When put into the

machine, the sample falls from the sampler into a combustion tube, where it burns in a flash under the influence of oxygen (flash combustion) at 1020 °C. The combustion gases are moved further through the machine with the help of the carrier gas helium to a column of copper oxide where they are completely converted into CO₂, N₂, NO_x, H₂O, SO₂ and residual O₂. Afterwards, the gases flow through a Cu column, where nitrogen oxides are reduced to elemental nitrogen, and O₂ to CuO. Now the water can be absorbed by the column. The gases flow to a TPD (Temperature Programmed Desorption) column. CO₂, H₂O and SO₂ are absorbed and with the help of programmed heating the gases are released one after the other. The gases flow through a thermal conductivity detector (TCD), which emits an electrical signal proportional to the concentration of nitrogen, carbon, hydrogen and sulphur. Before the elemental CN analyser could be used, a calibration curve had to be made (see appendix B). In most measurement methods, instrument calibration is required. It is a set of prescribed operations that establishes the relationship between the measuring system's output (e.g., an instrument's response) and the calibration standards' recognized values (e.g., the amount of analyte present) (Prichard & Barwick, 2003).

Leaf traits calculation: SLA and LMA index

To calculate the SLA and LMA index, the following method was used. First, dried leaves were weighed to retrieve the weight per leaf for each species. At least five leaves were weighed and the average of these values were used for further calculation. To obtain the area of the leaf material, scans have been made of the leaves. With the program ImageJ, the scans have been analysed using the 'Analyse Particles' tool. Having obtained this data for all species, the SLA index could be obtained by dividing the area (m²) by the weight (kg). The LMA index was calculated by dividing the weight (g) by the area (m²). The SLA and LMA index have been used to convert the concentrations from weight-basis (g/kg) to area-basis (g/m²).

3.3 Statistical Analysis

First, a statistical calculation has been made to locate outliers by using the IQR method (Jeong et al., 2017). Afterwards, to validate this method, scatterplots of the first and second elemental analysis measurement per sample have been made in the dataset to visualise the data and a possible regression line. This has been done by using SPSS with the scatterplot function. Having created a dataset for the samples, containing the results from the elemental analysis (from the Picofox and CN analyser), the CO₂ response curves (Farquhar et al., 1980) and the leaf traits with the SLA and LMA index, the statistical analysis could be performed.

The statistical data analysis has been performed in the statistical software platform IBM SPSS Statistics 24.0. For this analysis, analysis of variance (ANOVA) and analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) tests have been performed, as we want to know how the multiple covariates (V_{cmax} , J_{max} , N, P) influence the concentration and ratio of the nutrients and identify possible differences between species. The test result is considered significant if the P-value = < 0.05. The ANOVA tests give information on the variance between means, and in this research will describe the variance between species for a certain variable (photosynthetic trait or nutrient). The ANCOVA test can give information on the regression analysis, which variable can be a possible predictor of another variable. A supplementary Tukey HSD post-hoc test has been performed, to obtain knowledge about which variable differs significantly from another variable. Additionally, a F-test is used to compare the magnitude of the variability in the absolute micronutrient values and in the ratios of the micronutrients with N and P. Per sub question, one or multiple statistical tests will be performed:

SQ1: Do the values for the photosynthesis traits (V_{cmax} and J_{max}), N and P significantly differ per species group?

Statistical approach: performance of multiple ANOVA and ANCOVA tests for the following variables: V_{cmax} , J_{max} , N, P. To visualise the variation between species, boxplots have been made. To improve understanding and visualise the dataset, scatterplots have been made which include a R² value for the photosynthetic traits and for the units g/m² and g/kg for N and P.

SQ2: Do plants show consistent stoichiometry when comparing Zn, Fe and Ca absolute values to their ratio with N and P?

Statistical approach: performance of multiple ANOVA tests for the following

variables: Zn, Zn:N, Zn:P Fe, Fe:N, Fe:P, Ca, Ca:N, Ca:P. The comparison of the P-value results of the ANOVA tests give insights into the rate of variation between species for absolute values and ratios. Also, F-tests have been performed to analyse the difference in magnitude of the variability, which provide a F-value and P-value.

SQ3: How are the photosynthesis traits V_{cmax}, J_{max} related to N and P?

Statistical approach: performance of multiple ANCOVA tests for V_{cmax} and J_{max} as covariates for N and for P. To visualise the relations, scatterplots have been made that also bring insight into a positive or negative relation and provide a R^2 value.

SQ4: How are N and P related to the micronutrients Zn, Fe and Ca?

Statistical approach: performance of multiple ANCOVA tests for P and N as covariates for Zn, Zn:N, Fe, Fe:N, Ca and Ca:N. To visualise the relations, scatterplots have been made that also bring insight into a positive / negative relation and provide a R² value.

Results

4.1 Variation for photosynthetic traits, nitrogen and phosphorus

First, the two photosynthetic traits V_{cmax} and J_{max} have been plotted in a scatterplot (figure 1) to obtain the R² value per species group. A difference between the species can be observed, for alfalfa (R² of 0.928) and almond (R² of 0.970), the high R² explains a strong correlation. For irrigated apples (R² of 0.611) and grapes (R² of 0.595) the medium R² explains a moderate correlation, and for non-irrigated apples (R² of 0.269) the low R² explains a weak correlation. The ANCOVA test result is significant for J_{max} as covariate for V_{cmax} (P-value = $3.25*10^{-11} < 0.05$), and reversely, the effect of V_{cmax} on J_{max} is significant with a P-value of $1.65*10^{-9}$.



Figure 1: Scatterplot of the photosynthetic traits V_{cmax} and J_{max} (µmol/m²/s), subdivided per species. The regression equation is attached to each regression line and R² values are added to the legend. The P-value for J_{max} as covariate for V_{cmax} is significant (P=3.25*10⁻¹¹ < 0.05). Also, the P-value for V_{cmax} as covariate for J_{max} is significant (P=1.65*10⁻⁹ < 0.05). A positive correlation can be concluded between V_{cmax} and J_{max} .

The variation between species of the photosynthesis traits and nitrogen and phosphorus has been tested with an 'Analysis of Variance' (ANOVA) test. Both the photosynthesis traits vary enough between species to obtain a significant result. The P-value is $3.36*10^{-6}$ for V_{cmax} and $1.58*10^{-4}$ for J_{max}. Figure 2 visualises the significantly higher concentration for V_{cmax} and J_{max} for alfalfa compared to other species, which is also tested in the Tukey HSD post-hoc test.



Figure 2: The boxplots visualise the means of the photosynthetic traits J_{max} (a) and V_{cmax} (b) in μ mol/m²/s for species. The P-value is $3.36*10^{-6}$ for V_{cmax} and $1.58*10^{-4}$ for J_{max} , both significant as P < 0.05. The box shows the values between the 25th and the 75th quartile and the black line in the box is describing the median. The letters describe the different groups, explaining group A varies significantly in mean from group B.

When plotting N and P concentrations in the units g/m^2 and g/kg in a scatterplot, a perfect fit can be observed (figure 3). The R² value is 1 for both N and P for all species, meaning that the response variable can be perfectly explained without error by the predictor variable. In this case, the N/P (g/kg) can be perfectly explained by N/P (g/m²). Because of this reason, and because the unit for the photosynthesis traits is in area basis (μ mol/m²/s) the analysis of (co)variance tests have been performed with the g/m² unit.



Figure 3: Scatterplot of nitrogen in two units (g/kg and g/m²) (a) and phosphorus in two units (g/kg and g/m²) (b), subdivided per species. The regression equation is attached to each regression line and R^2 values are added to the legend. The values for R^2 are all 1, describing X can perfectly be explained by Y.

To analyse the variance between species for N and P concentration, an ANOVA test has been performed. The P-value for N (g/m²) is 0.551 which is > 0.05 (result not significant). Figure 4 visualises the low variation in N concentration between species. The P-value for P is $4.79*10^{-3}$, which describes a significant variation between species for P g/m² concentration. This result is significant because of the difference in concentration between almond and non-irrigated apples and because of the difference between almonds and grapes. The ANOVA test for N:P ratio gives a P-value of 0.021 < 0.05. The posthoc test is not significant, explaining not a significant variation between species for the N:P ratio.



Figure 4: Means of N (a) and P (b) concentration for g/m^2 and ratio N:P (c) in boxplot for species. The P-value for N (g/m^2) is 0.551 > 0.05 (not significant), because of the low variation between species. The P-value for P (g/m^2) is 4.79*10⁻³ < 0.05 (significant) and the post-hoc Tukey test is significant. The P-value for the N:P ratio is 0.021<0.05 (significant), the post-hoc Tukey HSD test is not significant. The box shows the values between the 25th and the 75th quartile. The black line in the box is describing the median. The letters describe the different groups, explaining group A varies significantly in mean from group B, and C differs significantly from group A and from group B.

4.2 Micronutrients stoichiometry

To answer the second sub question, and to determine if the variability is lower with the ratios with N and P compared to the variability with the absolute values, a F-test was performed which uses the standard deviation and the variance. For iron, the standard deviation is 6.721 and the variance 45,171. For the Fe:N ratio, the standard deviation is 2.497 and the variance is 6.235. The F-test gives the following results for the variation between Fe and Fe:N: F-value is 2.692 and P-value is 0.006. When performing the test on the Fe:P ratio, the standard deviation is 0.171 and the variance is 0.029. The F-test, which compares the standard deviation of Fe and Fe:P gives a F-value of 39.304 and a P-value of <0.001. These results describe a decrease in variability for the ratio with nitrogen and a further decrease for the ratio with phosphorus compared to the variability of the absolute Fe value.

Additionally, an ANOVA test has been performed to research the variance in means between the species for absolute micronutrient values and ratios with nitrogen and with phosphorus, and boxplots are included for the visualisation of the results. A low P-value describes a high variation. For iron absolute value (g/m^2) , the P-value is $5.16*10^{-5}$. The post-hoc Tukey HSD test is not significant (P-value 0.192 > 0.05). For the Fe:N ratio, the P-value is $2.22*10^{-4}$, explaining a significant variation between species. Also here, the post-hoc Tukey HSD test is not significant (P-value 0.362 > 0.05), so the variation cannot be linked to a certain species. For Fe the variation is lower for the ratio with N compared to the absolute value (P-value of $5.122*10^{-5} < 2.254*10^{-4}$). The ANOVA test for Fe:P gives a significant P-value of 0.007. However, the post-hoc Tukey HSD test is not significant (P-value is 0.073 > 0.05), so the variation cannot be linked to a certain species. To conclude, all ANOVA tests are significant, and the variation between species is highest for the iron absolute values. The lowest variation between species is found at Fe:P. Note the step sizes of the boxplots (figure 5), the step size decreases going from absolute value to ratio with N and a further decrease in step size for the ratio with P.



Figure 5: Boxplot of Fe absolute concentration for g/m^2 (a), Fe:N ratio (b) and Fe:P ratio (c) in boxplots for species. The P-value for Fe (g/m^2) is $5.16*10^{-5} < 0.05$ (significant). For Fe:N, the P-value is $2.22*10^{-4} < 0.05$ (significant) and for Fe:P the P-value is 0.007 < 0.05 (significant). The post-hoc Tukey HSD is not significant for Fe (g/m^2), Fe:N and Fe:P. The box shows the values between the 25th and the 75th quartile. The black line in the box is describing the median. Note the step size of the Y-axis decreasing with the ratio with N and further decreasing with P.

Similar tests have been performed for Zn and Ca concentrations. First, the standard deviation and variance for Zn and for Zn ratios with N and P have been obtained. The standard deviation for the absolute Zn value is 0.486, and the variance is 0.237. The standard deviation for Zn:N is 0.197 and the variance is 3.899*10⁻². The F-test result for Zn and Zn:N is 2.467 and the P-value is 0.011. For the Zn:P ratio, the standard deviation is 0.012 and the variance is 1.535*10⁻⁴. The F-test result between Zn and Zn:P gives a F-value of 39.256 and a P-value of <0.001. The standard deviation and the variance decrease for the ratios compared to the absolute Zn value, and are lowest for the Zn:P ratio.

When performing the ANOVA test to analyse the variance between the means between species, the test for Zn gives a P-value of $3.551*10^{-2}$. The post-hoc Tukey HSD test is not significant (P=0.501>0.05). The ANOVA test for the Zn:N ratio gives a P-value of $2.748*10^{-2}$. The post-hoc Tukey HSD test is again not significant, thus this significant variation cannot be linked to a certain species. The P-value for the Zn:P concentration is $4.366*10^{-6}$. Also here, the post-hoc Tukey HSD test is not significant. For Zn, the P-value for the absolute concentration is higher compared to the P-value of the ratio with N, and also higher compared to the ratio with P. To conclude, the variation for the absolute Zn concentration is slightly lower compared to the ratios with N and P. Similar to the comparison for Fe, note the decrease in step sizes (figure 6) for the ratios compared to the absolute values.



Figure 6: Boxplot of Zn absolute concentration for g/m^2 (a), Zn:N ratio (b) and Zn:P (c) in boxplots for species. The P-value for Zn (g/m^2) is $3.551*10^{-2} < 0.05$ (significant). For the Zn:N ratio, the P-value is $2.748*10^{-2} < 0.05$ (significant). The P-value for the Zn:P ratio is $4.366*10^{-6} < 0.05$ (significant). All post-hoc Tukey HSD tests are not significant. The box shows the values between the 25^{th} and the 75^{th} quartile. The black line in the box is describing the median. Note the step size of the Y-axis decreasing with the ratio with N and further decreasing with P.

The standard deviation for Ca is 0.617 and the variance is 0.381. The standard deviation for the ratio Ca:N is 0.259 and gives a variance of 0.066. The F-test for Ca and Ca:N gives a F-value of 2.387 and a P-value of 0.007. For Ca:P, the standard deviation is 0.022 and the variance $5.12*10^{-4}$. The F-test result for comparing the standard deviation between Ca and Ca:P gives an F-value of 27.221 and a P-value of <0.001. The variability is lower for the ratios with N and P, and lowest for Ca:P.

To obtain results on the variance between the species, the ANOVA test has been performed and gives a P-value is 6.789*10⁻¹⁰ for the absolute Ca concentration, the post-hoc Tukey HSD test is not significant, thus this significant variation cannot be linked to a particular species. The Ca:N ANOVA test gives a P-value of 2.621*10⁻⁷, and the post-hoc Tukey HSD test is also not significant. The P-value for the Ca:P ratio is 2.213*10⁻⁶. The post-hoc Tukey HSD test is not significant. For Ca the variation between species is lower with the Ca:N ratio compared to the Ca absolute value, and the Ca:P ratio contains the lowest variation.



Figure 7: Boxplot of Ca absolute concentration for g/m^2 (a), Ca:N ratio (b) and Ca:P ratio (c), in boxplots for species. The P-value for Ca (g/m^2) is $6.789*10^{-10} < 0.05$ (significant). The P-value for Ca:N is $2.621*10^{-6} < 0.05$ (significant) and for Ca:P is $2.213*10^{-6} < 0.05$ (significant). All post-hoc Tukey HSD tests are not significant. The box shows the values between the 25^{th} and the 75^{th} quartile. The black line in the box is describing the median. Note the step size of the Y-axis decreasing with the ratio with N and further decreasing with P.

4.3 Photosynthetic traits relation to nitrogen and phosphorus

To understand if the values of N and P can be predicted by the photosynthetic traits values, analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) tests have been performed. For N (g/m²), the test gives no significant result, explaining no significant effect of V_{cmax} and J_{max} on concentration of N (g/m²). Also with this test, no significant N variation between species can be found as the result of this test is not significant, explaining a low variation between species for N (g/m²).

Secondly, the ANCOVA test has been performed for V_{cmax} , J_{max} and P. A significant effect was found of the covariates V_{cmax} , J_{max} on P (g/m²). So, the concentration of P (g/m²) in the leaves can be predicted out of V_{cmax} , J_{max} . The P-value for V_{cmax} as covariate for P is 3.973*10⁻³ < 0.05. The P-value for V_{cmax} as covariate for P is 1.256*10⁻². Also, after correcting for V_{cmax} , J_{max} , there is a significant difference between P (g/m²) for species (P-value =8.792*10⁻⁴). The result is significant because of the difference in concentration between almond and non-irrigated apple and because of the difference between almond and grape (see figure 4b). To visualise the significant result of the ANCOVA test for V_{cmax} , J_{max} and P, two scatterplots have been made. The first scatterplot (figure 8a) with J_{max} (µmol/m²/s) and P (g/m²) shows a positive correlation for almond (R² of 0.145), and a negative correlation for the other species (non-irrigated apples R² = 0.645, irrigated apples R² = 0.653, alfalfa R² = 0.283, grape R² = 0.454). The second scatterplot (figure 8b) shows the results for V_{cmax} and the P (g/m²). Here, non-irrigated apple, grape and alfalfa give a low R² value (respectively R² = 4.214*10⁻⁶, R² = 0.065, R² = 0.090). Both irrigated apple (R² = 0.886) and almond (R² = 0.191) show a negative correlation between V_{cmax} and P (g/m²).



Figure 8: Scatterplot of P (g/m²) and the photosynthetic traits J_{max} (a) and V_{cmax} (b), subdivided per species. The regression equation is attached to each regression line and R² values are added to the legend. The P-value for the ANCOVA test for J_{max} as covariate for P is 3.973*10⁻³, and for V_{cmax} as covariate for P, the P-value is 1.256*10⁻². Both J_{max} and V_{cmax} are significant covariates. The species covariate for P (g/m²) concentration is significant with a P-value of 8.792*10⁻⁴.

4.4 Relationship between nitrogen, phosphorus and micronutrients

To understand the relationship between N, P and the micronutrients, several ANCOVA tests have been performed. The tests have been done for the g/m^2 unit and for the ratio with N and P. For Fe, it was tested if the covariates N (g/m^2) and P (g/m^2) impact the concentration of the dependent variable Fe (g/m^2). Results of the ANCOVA test are not significant. So, Fe (g/m^2) cannot be predicted by the covariates because there is no significant impact. Also, when performing the test with the Fe:N and Fe:P ratio, the ANCOVA test results are not significant, describing that the Fe:N and Fe:P ratios cannot be predicted by the covariates N and P.

A similar procedure has been used for Zn. This ANCOVA test was significant (P-value = 0.003 < 0.05), and when looking at the significance of the covariates, a significant result was seen with P (g/m²) and Zn (g/m²) (P-value = $3.912*10^{-2} < 0.05$). For N (g/m²) and Zn (g/m²), there was no significant result. The positive correlation between Zn and P can be seen in figure 9. The R² is highest for grapes (0.571). R² for almond is 0.477, for non-irrigated apple R² = 0.441, for irrigated apple R² = 0.310 and for alfalfa

 $R^2 = 0.039$. The covariate species is not significant (P-value = 0.072 > 0.05), meaning that the sort of species does not impact the Zn - P relationship.



Figure 9: Regression line for P (g/m²) and Zn (g/m²). The regression equation is attached to each regression line and R² values are added to the legend. The P-value for P (g/m²) as covariate for Zn (g/m²) is significant (P-value = 3.912×10^{-2}). The covariate species is not significant (P-value = 0.072 > 0.05).

When performing the analysis of the covariance test for P and N as covariates for Zn:N ratio, a significant impact was found (P-value = 0.009 < 0.05). When performing this test, the covariates species also gave a significant result (P-value = 0.005 < 0.05). This can be explained by the significant difference between almond and irrigated apple (P-value = 0.019 < 0.05), and the significant difference between grape and irrigated apple (P-value = 0.008 < 0.05). This can be explained by the lower value of irrigated apples compared to almonds and grapes. Also, a significant difference between almond and non-irrigated apple (P-value = 0.063 < 0.05) was found. This can be explained by the lower value of Zn:N or non-irrigated apple compared to almond.

Lastly, an ANCOVA test has been performed for Ca with covariates N, P and species. The results of the test are not significant for the covariates N and P for the absolute value of Ca, meaning N and P cannot predict the concentration of Ca (g/m^2) . However, a significant difference can be seen for Ca concentration between species, due to the relatively low concentration of Ca in alfalfa compared to the other species. For the ratio Ca:N, no significant effect is found from the covariates N and P. However, a significant difference can be found between species for the Ca:N ratio, due to the low concentration of Ca:N in the alfalfa species, compared to all non-irrigated apples, grapes and almonds. The difference in Ca:N concentration between alfalfa and irrigated apples is not significant.

Discussion

5.1 Interpretation of results

The aim of this research was to improve understanding of how nutrient content in plants can be predicted by the photosynthetic traits. The following research question was set up: How are the photosynthesis traits (V_{cmax} , J_{max}) and the plant's nutrient content (N, P, Fe, Zn, Ca) related and does this differ per species? To answer the research question and sub questions, statistical analysis of (co)variance tests have been performed on the data that has been obtained by elemental analysis and photosynthetic performance measurements.

To answer the first sub question, the relationship between the photosynthetic traits have been tested. Prior research has provided evidence on the strong relationship between J_{max} and V_{cmax} (Wullschleger, 1993; Beerling & Quick 1995). This research's findings are similar compared to previous research. The first SQ and corresponding hypothesis were formulated as follows:

SQ1: Do the values for the photosynthesis traits (V_{cmax} and J_{max}), N and P significantly differ per species group?

H1: For V_{cmax} and J_{max} , Alfalfa > other species. For N and P, there is no significant variation between species.

For both V_{cmax} and J_{max} , alfalfa contains a significantly higher value compared to the other species. This was hypothesised as alfalfa's leaf size is smaller compared to the other species. According to prior research, smaller leaf sizes correspond with higher photosynthetic activity, resulting in higher V_{cmax} and J_{max} values (Bronstein et al., 2007). For N, no significant variance was found which corresponds with the hypothesis set up for N, which states that there is no significant variation between species for N. However, the results are not in line with the hypothesis for P, as a significant variation was found between species. The P concentration for almond was significantly lower compared to the P concentration of grape and non-irrigated apple. To conclude, an unexpected variance exists between species for P concentration. The greater variance between species for P concentration compared to N concentration can be explained by previous research done by Kang et al. (2011). This research stated the variation between species is lower for N than for P.

The second sub question compared absolute micronutrient concentrations to the ratios with N. The hypothesis expected the variation between species to be lower for the ratios than for the absolute values. The difference between absolute values and ratios can explain if the stoichiometry is consistent or not, which indicates if nutrients are related to each other or not.

SQ2: Do plants show consistent stoichiometry when comparing Zn, Fe and Ca absolute values to their ratio with N and P?

H2: The species variability for ratios < absolute values.

The results of the comparison of variability with the F-test between ratios and absolute values for Fe, Zn and Ca indicate a decrease in variability for the ratio with N compared to the absolute micronutrient value. The variability for the ratio with P is lowest. This is consistent for all Fe, Zn and Ca and this result agrees with the hypothesis for the second sub question.

The results of the ANOVA test indicate a lower variability for the ratios with N and P for Fe and for Ca, compared to the variability between species for the absolute values of Fe. For the ratio with N, this can be explained because N contains no significant variability between the species, decreasing the variability between species if a ratio is made with N. A low and significant P-value explains a high variability. The post-hoc Tukey HSD test of the Fe:N ratio is not significant, so the variance cannot be explained by a certain species, explaining the lower variance for Fe:N compared to absolute Fe. The P-value for the ratio Fe:P is lower compared to the Fe:N ratio, and this lower P value explains a lower variability. A lower variability for the ratio compared to the absolute value assumes that the micronutrients are linked to the macronutrient, as the stoichiometry is not constant for the absolute values and for the ratios (Fe:P and Fe:N).

For Ca, both the absolute and the Ca:N, Ca:P post-hoc Tukey HSD test are not significant, so the variance here is also not explained by a certain species. The P-values for the ratio:N and for ratio:P for Ca are higher compared to the absolute value, which is in line with the hypothesis. Similar to the case for Fe, the stoichiometry for Ca is not constant for the absolute Ca concentration compared to the ratio with N and with P, this assumes a linkage between the micronutrient Ca and N and P. So, we can expect that Ca will react in a similar way to how N and P will react to changing CO₂ concentrations.

For the micronutrient Zn, the ANOVA results are contradicting with the hypothesis as the P-value of the ratio:N and the ratio:P is lower compared to the P-value of the absolute Zn concentration, however, the difference in P-value is only 8.031*10⁻³. For the absolute Zn concentration, the post-hoc Tukey HSD test is significant because of the significantly lower Zn concentration in irrigated apples compared to grapes. The Zn:N and the Zn:P post-hoc test is not significant. As the post-hoc test for the absolute Zn concentration is significant, the variation seems larger compared to the ratios. Because of this minor difference for only the zinc species and because of the result of the F-test, we do accept the hypothesis.

To derive results on the relationship between the photosynthesis traits V_{cmax} , J_{max} and N and P, covariance analysis tests have been performed. The following sub question and hypothesis had been set up:

SQ3: How are the photosynthesis traits V_{cmax} , J_{max} related to N and P?

H3: V_{cmax} and J_{max} are positively related with N and P.

Prior research has provided evidence on the relation between the photosynthesis traits V_{cmax} , J_{max} and N, because of the large amount of N is invested in the RuBisCo protein (Marschner, 1995; Taiz & Zeiger 2010; Prashar et al., 2013; Walker et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2018). Furthermore, the Farquhar et al. model (1980) showed negative effects of increased CO₂ only affecting V_{cmax} . However, this research was interested in V_{cmax} and J_{max} being predictors for the N/P concentration.

The statistical tests gave no significant result for V_{cmax} , J_{max} as covariance for the N concentration. Thus, this result for N is not in line with the hypothesis. However, the research review by Walker et al. (2014) indicated a positive correlation between N and V_{cmax} , J_{max} . The outcome of the ANCOVA test, which is not in line with previous evidence, could be explained by the low sample size, so for further research it would be interesting to perform a similar method with a larger sample size.

The significant result of the ANCOVA test performed for V_{cmax} , J_{max} and P is in line with the hypothesis as there is a significant relation. Both V_{cmax} and J_{max} are predictors for the P concentration in the leaf of the samples. For V_{cmax} and P, the R² values are describing a negative correlation for irrigated apple and almond. For the other species, the R² is too low to describe as a clear correlation. For J_{max} and P, all species besides almond show a relatively strong negative correlation. The R² for almond is positive and relatively low. As the R² values per species are contradicting each other in being positive or negative, these results are not strong enough to be able to state if the correlation is positive or negative. As a prior research review by Walker et al. (2014) of 24 papers and 135 species and location combinations (distributed globally) evidenced the positive correlation between V_{cmax} and J_{max} and P, the results will be interpreted as a positive correlation.

The fourth hypothesis has been tested by performing analysis of covariance tests on N, P and the micronutrients Zn, Fe and Ca. The related sub question was set up as follows:

SQ4: How are N and P related to the micronutrients Zn, Fe and Ca?

H4: N and P are positively related to Zn, Fe and Ca.

The results of the ANCOVA statistical tests were not significant for P, N and Fe and for P, N and Fe:N. Also, the statistical tests were not significant for P, N and Ca and for P, N and Ca:N. For further research it would be interesting to do similar tests for a larger sample size so see if a possible correlation exists.

The significant results for the statistical covariance analysis for P and Zn and for P and Zn:N can be interpreted as P being a predictor of Zn concentration, and as the correlation is positive, an increase in P results in an increase in Zn. The covariate species was not significant, describing no clear impact of species on the P - Zn relationship. The positive correlation between P and Zn was highest for grape and lowest for alfalfa. This is in line with prior research done by Xie et al. (2019), who provided the evidence for the positive relationship between concentration of micronutrients and leaf size. The increase in P concentration is related to increase in leaf size, resulting in increase in micronutrient concentration.

The aim of this research is to understand the linkages between micro- and macronutrients in a plant's leaf, to be able to make predictions of nutrient content with increasing atmospheric CO₂ concentration. This research contributed to the knowledge gap as the results assume a significant positive correlation between the photosynthetic traits and phosphorus, and a significant positive correlation between phosphorus and zinc. As prior research by Zheng et al. (2019) has proved, CO₂ increase leads to a down-regulation of the photosynthetic traits V_{cmax} and J_{max} . The abundant CO₂ availability for the plant leads to a decrease in stomatal conductance, due to the declines in stomatal density and stomatal area. The down-regulation of the photosynthetic traits is associated with a decrease in phosphorus concentration, and it can be assumed that all micronutrients related to P concentration will experience this down-regulation as well. This research has evidenced significant impact on the zinc concentration, however, it is expected that other micronutrients will perform in a similar way.

5.2 Limitations

Some potential limitations exist in this research, which are important to acknowledge for further research on this topic. First of all, the sample size was relatively low and was limited to four species. Especially for the analysis of covariance tests, a larger sample size would be convenient. For apple, the differences in results for apple irrigated and apple non-irrigated were presumed as large enough to be taken up as two separate groups. This difference in performance can be explained by the plant's habituation to the humidity of the soil due to different irrigation patterns. Secondly, this research focused exclusively on plant leaf material, as this way data on photosynthetic performance and elemental analysis could be derived from the same material. In order to conduct this study, it was necessary to establish assumptions about the homogeneous distribution of nutrients throughout the plant and the representativeness of the leaf's nutritional content. Lastly, when performing the SLA and LMA index calculations, it was needed to scan hydrated leaves. However, the scans were only done on

hydrated leaves for the alfalfa species due to a miscommunication. The other species were in a dehydrated state. To perform this analysis, the dehydrated material had to be rehydrated for 48 hours and scanned afterwards, to assure leaf size of hydrated leaves as this is frequently larger compared to leaf size of dehydrated leaves. It is unlikely that this has led to significant inaccuracies, however, it would be expected that direct scans before dehydration are possibly more accurate compared to scans from a rehydration process.

5.3 Recommendations

In light of the findings of this study, it is recommended that future research performs this method with a larger sample size, and possibly as well with samples from varying terrestrial biomes. Also, as mentioned before as a limitation, it appears worthwhile to perform similar research on the fruits and grains of a plant as these results are more relevant when investigating the impact of changing nutrient content on human health. Further research could perform this analysis on fruit and/or grain material, and potentially compare the results with the leaf material to assess possible differences which could provide information on the homogeneity of nutrient distribution in a species. Furthermore, this research had to make assumptions on the effect of atmospheric CO_2 concentration on the plant's nutrient composition, as only material was available from plants that had grown under similar atmospheric CO_2 concentrations and derive the V_{cmax} , J_{max} and elemental composition of the plant. These additions could improve the validity and credibility of the research.

Conclusion

The major findings of this research contributed to answering the research question: How are the photosynthesis traits (Vcmax, Jmax) and the plant's nutrient content (N, P, Fe, Zn, Ca) related and does this differ per species? The first finding indicates that the photosynthetic traits V_{cmax} and J_{max} predict the concentration of phosphorus. The correlation differs per species and is strongest at V_{cmax} for irrigated and non-irrigated apples and grapes. For J_{max} , the correlation with phosphorus is strongest for irrigated apples. The correlation is interpreted as a positive correlation based on evidence of several prior studies. Secondly, the covariance analysis on phosphorus and zinc is significant, stating a positive correlation between phosphorus and zinc. The covariance analyses for the micronutrients iron and calcium were not significant, however, the analysis of variance and the F-test between species for absolute and ratio values provide insights in the consistency of the stoichiometry. The decreased variation with the ratio with nitrogen and with phosphorus presume a linkage between the micronutrient and the macronutrient. For iron and for calcium the variation for the ratio with nitrogen and with phosphorus was lower compared to the variation between species at the absolute value. These results assume a connection between the micronutrients iron and calcium with N and P.

To conclude, the findings of this research conclude that an increase in atmospheric CO_2 concentration results in the downregulation of the photosynthetic traits V_{cmax} and J_{max} , because of the decrease in stomatal conductance (Lui et al., 2014) and reduced allocation of nitrogen which is essential for the RuBisCo enzyme (Walker et al., 2014). The downregulation of the photosynthetic traits leads to a decrease in leaf P and presumably also in leaf N, even though the results of this statistical analysis for nitrogen were not significant. As previous research provided the evidence of the positive correlation between the photosynthetic traits and N and P, this research builds on this evidence and therefore suggests that the micronutrients Fe, Zn and Ca react to the downregulation of J_{max} and V_{cmax} in a similar way as N and P react.

This research contributed to existing literature by increasing understanding on possible connections between the photosynthetic traits and the impact on the essential micronutrients for human nutrition. Future research should focus on the possible theory that downregulation of the photosynthetic traits results in a decrease in micronutrient content of plants. Ultimately, the impact of atmospheric CO_2 increase on nutrient deficiencies can be fully understood so that preventative measures can be taken to reduce the global threat on nutrient availability.

References

- Abbaspour, N., Hurrell, R., & Kelishadi, R. (2014). Review on iron and its importance for human health. Journal of research in medical sciences: the official journal of Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, 19(2), 164.
- Ainsworth, E. A., & Long, S. P. (2005). What have we learned from 15 years of free-air CO₂ enrichment (FACE)? A meta-analytic review of the responses of photosynthesis, canopy properties and plant production to rising CO₂. *New phytologist*, *165*(2), 351-372.
- Ainsworth, E. A., & Rogers, A. (2007). The response of photosynthesis and stomatal conductance to rising [CO2]: mechanisms and environmental interactions. *Plant, cell & environment, 30*(3), 258-270.
- Alloway, B. J. (2008). Zinc in soils and crop nutrition. published by IZA and IFA. *Brussels, Belgium* and Paris, France, 139.
- Ågren, G. I., & Weih, M. (2020). Multi-dimensional plant element stoichiometry—looking beyond carbon, nitrogen, and phosphorus. *Frontiers in plant science*, *11*, 23.
- Asner, G. P., Martin, R. E., Tupayachi, R., Emerson, R., Martinez, P., Sinca, F., ... & Lugo, A. E. (2011). Taxonomy and remote sensing of leaf mass per area (LMA) in humid tropical forests. *Ecological Applications*, 21(1), 85-98.
- Bassham, J. A., Benson, A. A., & Calvin, M. (1950). The path of carbon in photosynthesis VIII. The role of malic acid. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 185(2), 781-787.
- Beach, R. H., Sulser, T. B., Crimmins, A., Cenacchi, N., Cole, J., Fukagawa, N. K., ... & Ziska, L. H. (2019). Combining the effects of increased atmospheric carbon dioxide on protein, iron, and zinc availability and projected climate change on global diets: a modelling study. *The Lancet Planetary Health*, 3(7), e307-e317.
- Beerling, D. J., & Quick, W. P. (1995). A new technique for estimating rates of carboxylation and electron transport in leaves of C3 plants for use in dynamic global vegetation models. *Global Change Biology*, 1(4), 289-294.
- Bernacchi, C. J., Morgan, P. B., Ort, D. R., & Long, S. P. (2005). The growth of soybean under free air [CO2] enrichment (FACE) stimulates photosynthesis while decreasing in vivo Rubisco capacity. *Planta*, 220(3), 434-446.
- Bernacchi, C. J., Leakey, A. D., Heady, L. E., Morgan, P. B., Dohleman, F. G., McGrath, J. M., ... & Ort, D. R. (2006). Hourly and seasonal variation in photosynthesis and stomatal conductance of soybean grown at future CO2 and ozone concentrations for 3 years under fully open-air field conditions. *Plant, Cell & Environment, 29*(11), 2077-2090.
- Björkman, O. (1981). Responses to different quantum flux densities. In *Physiological plant ecology* I. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg.

Blankenship, R. E. (2021). Molecular mechanisms of photosynthesis. John Wiley & Sons.

Boone, A. (2019). Land surface Interactions with the Atmosphere over the Iberian Semi-arid Environment (LIAISE). *GEWEX News*.

- Bronstein, J. L., Huxman, T. E., & Davidowitz, G. O. G. G. Y. (2007). Plant-mediated effects linking herbivory and pollination. *Ecological communities: plant mediation in indirect interaction webs*, 75-103.
- Carvajal, M. (2010). Investigation into CO₂ absorption of the most representative agricultural crops of the region of murcia. CSIC (Consejo Superior de Investigaciones Científicas). Madrid.
- Cheng, T., Rivard, B., Sánchez-Azofeifa, A. G., Féret, J. B., Jacquemoud, S., & Ustin, S. L. (2014). Deriving leaf mass per area (LMA) from foliar reflectance across a variety of plant species using continuous wavelet analysis. *ISPRS Journal of Photogrammetry and Remote Sensing*, 87, 28-38.
- Curtis, P. S., & Wang, X. (1998). A meta-analysis of elevated CO2 effects on woody plant mass, form, and physiology. *Oecologia*, 113(3), 299-313.
- Dayod, M., Tyerman, S. D., Leigh, R. A., & Gilliham, M. (2010). Calcium storage in plants and the implications for calcium biofortification. *Protoplasma*, 247(3), 215-231.
- Delucia, E. H., Sasek, T. W., & Strain, B. R. (1985). Photosynthetic inhibition will be noticed after long-term exposure to elevated levels of atmospheric carbon dioxide. *Photosynthesis Research*, 7(2), 175-184.
- Elser, J. J., Sterner, R. W., Gorokhova, E. A., Fagan, W. F., Markow, T. A., Cotner, J. B., ... & Weider, L. W. (2000). Biological stoichiometry from genes to ecosystems. *Ecology letters*, 3(6), 540-550.
- Elser, J. J., Bracken, M. E., Cleland, E. E., Gruner, D. S., Harpole, W. S., Hillebrand, H., ... & Smith, J. E. (2007). Global analysis of nitrogen and phosphorus limitation of primary producers in freshwater, marine and terrestrial ecosystems. *Ecology letters*, 10(12), 1135-1142.
- Evans, J. R. (2013). Improving photosynthesis. Plant physiology, 162(4), 1780-1793.
- Fan, Y., Zhong, Z., & Zhang, X. (2011). Determination of photosynthetic parameters Vcmax and Jmax for a C3 plant (spring hulless barley) at two altitudes on the Tibetan Plateau. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology, 151(12), 1481-1487.
- FAO. (2012). Agriculture organization of the United Nations. FAO statistical yearbook.
- Farquhar, G. D., von Caemmerer, S. V., & Berry, J. A. (1980). A biochemical model of photosynthetic CO2 assimilation in leaves of C3 species. *Planta*, 149(1), 78-90.
- Farquhar, G. D., & Sharkey, T. D. (1982). Stomatal conductance and photosynthesis. Annual review of plant physiology, 33(1), 317-345.
- Gao, F., & Dubos, C. (2021). Transcriptional integration of plant responses to iron availability. *Journal* of experimental botany, 72(6), 2056-2070.
- Graham, R. D., Welch, R. M., & Bouis, H. E. (2001). Addressing micronutrient malnutrition through enhancing the nutritional quality of staple foods: principles, perspectives and knowledge gaps.
- Grime, J. P. (2001). Plant strategies, vegetation processes, and ecosystem properties. 2nd. edJohn Wiley & Sons. *Chichester, UK*.
- Gutschick, V. P., & Wiegel, F. W. (1988). Optimizing the canopy photosynthetic rate by patterns of investment in specific leaf mass. *The American Naturalist*, 132(1), 67-86.

- Hussain, S., Liu, T., Iqbal, N., Brestic, M., Pang, T., Mumtaz, M., ... & Yang, W. (2020a). Effects of lignin, cellulose, hemicellulose, sucrose and monosaccharide carbohydrates on soybean physical stem strength and yield in intercropping. *Photochemical & Photobiological Sciences*, 19(4), 462-472.
- Hussain, S., Pang, T., Iqbal, N., Shafiq, I., Skalicky, M., Brestic, M., ... & Yang, W. (2020b). Acclimation strategy and plasticity of different soybean genotypes in intercropping. *Functional Plant Biology*, 47(7), 592-610.
- Hussain, S., Ulhassan, Z., Brestic, M., Zivcak, M., Zhou, W., Allakhverdiev, S. I., ... & Liu, W. (2021). Photosynthesis research under climate change. *Photosynthesis Research*, *150*(1), 5-19.
- IPCC (2007) In: Solomon, S., Manning, M., Marquis, M., & Qin, D. Climate change 2007-the physical science basis: Working group I contribution to the fourth assessment report of the IPCC (Vol. 4). Cambridge university press.
- Jeong, J., Park, E., Han, W. S., Kim, K., Choung, S., & Chung, I. M. (2017). Identifying outliers of non-Gaussian groundwater state data based on ensemble estimation for long-term trends. *Journal of Hydrology*, 548, 135-144.
- Kang, H., Zhuang, H., Wu, L., Liu, Q., Shen, G., Berg, B., ... & Liu, C. (2011). Variation in leaf nitrogen and phosphorus stoichiometry in Picea abies across Europe: an analysis based on local observations. Forest Ecology and Management, 261(2), 195-202.
- Keenan, T. F., Hollinger, D. Y., Bohrer, G., Dragoni, D., Munger, J. W., Schmid, H. P., & Richardson,
 A. D. (2013). Increase in forest water-use efficiency as atmospheric carbon dioxide concentrations rise. *Nature*, 499(7458), 324-327.
- Knecht, M. F., & Göransson, A. (2004). Terrestrial plants require nutrients in similar proportions. *Tree physiology*, 24(4), 447-460.
- Kraemer, K. (2022). Personal communication, May 13, 2022.
- Ladanai, S., Ågren, G. I., & Olsson, B. A. (2010). Relationships between tree and soil properties in Picea abies and Pinus sylvestris forests in Sweden. *Ecosystems*, *13*(2), 302-316.
- Leakey, A. D., Ainsworth, E. A., Bernacchi, C. J., Rogers, A., Long, S. P., & Ort, D. R. (2009). Elevated CO₂ effects on plant carbon, nitrogen, and water relations: six important lessons from FACE. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 60(10), 2859-2876.
- LeBauer, D. S., & Treseder, K. K. (2008). Nitrogen limitation of net primary productivity in terrestrial ecosystems is globally distributed. *Ecology*, *89*(2), 371-379.
- Lee, T. D., Tjoelker, M. G., Ellsworth, D. S., & Reich, P. B. (2001). Leaf gas exchange responses of 13 prairie grassland species to elevated CO2 and increased nitrogen supply. *New Phytologist*, 150(2), 405-418.
- Leisner, C. P. (2020). Climate change impacts on food security-focus on perennial cropping systems and nutritional value. *Plant Science*, 293, 110412.
- Leuning, R. (1997). Scaling to a common temperature improves the correlation between the photosynthesis parameters Jmax and Vcmax. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 48(2), 345-347.

- Li, X., Kristiansen, K., Rosenqvist, E., & Liu, F. (2019). Elevated CO₂ modulates the effects of drought and heat stress on plant water relations and grain yield in wheat. *Journal of Agronomy and Crop Science*, 205(4), 362-371.
- Loladze, I. (2002). Rising atmospheric CO₂ and human nutrition: toward globally imbalanced plant stoichiometry? *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 17(10), 457-461.
- Loladze, I. (2014). Hidden shift of the ionome of plants exposed to elevated CO₂ depletes minerals at the base of human nutrition. *Elife*, *3*, e02245.
- Long, S. P., Marshall-Colon, A., & Zhu, X. G. (2015). Meeting the global food demand of the future by engineering crop photosynthesis and yield potential. *Cell*, 161(1), 56-66.
- Liu, J., Zhang, J., He, C., & Duan, A. (2014). Genes responsive to elevated CO2 concentrations in triploid white poplar and integrated gene network analysis. *PLoS One*, *9*(5), e98300.
- Makino, A., & Mae, T. (1999). Photosynthesis and plant growth at elevated levels of CO₂. *Plant and Cell Physiology*, *40*(10), 999-1006.
- Marschner, H. (1995). Mineral nutrition of higher plants Academic Press San Diego. *Mineral nutrition* of higher plants. 2nd ed. Academic Press, San Diego, CA.
- McGrath, J. M., & Lobell, D. B. (2013). Reduction of transpiration and altered nutrient allocation contribute to nutrient decline of crops grown in elevated CO₂ concentrations. *Plant, Cell & Environment, 36*(3), 697-705.
- Meziane, D., & Shipley, B. (1999). Interacting determinants of specific leaf area in 22 herbaceous species: effects of irradiance and nutrient availability. *Plant, Cell & Environment, 22*(5), 447-459.
- Morgan, J. A., Milchunas, D. G., LeCain, D. R., West, M., & Mosier, A. R. (2007). Carbon dioxide enrichment alters plant community structure and accelerates shrub growth in the shortgrass steppe. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 104(37), 14724-14729.
- Müller, C., Elliott, J., & Levermann, A. (2014). Fertilizing hidden hunger. Nature Climate Change, 4(7), 540-541.
- Myers, S. S., Zanobetti, A., Kloog, I., Huybers, P., Leakey, A. D., Bloom, A. J., ... & Usui, Y. (2014). Increasing CO₂ threatens human nutrition. *Nature*, *510*(7503), 139-142.
- Myers, S. S., Smith, M. R., Guth, S., Golden, C. D., Vaitla, B., Mueller, N. D., ... & Huybers, P. (2017). Climate change and global food systems: potential impacts on food security and undernutrition. *Annual review* of public health, 38(1), 259-277.
- Pierce, L. L., Running, S. W., & Walker, J. (1994). Regional-scale relationships of leaf area index to specific leaf area and leaf nitrogen content. *Ecological Applications*, 4(2), 313-321.
- Poorter, H., Niinemets, Ü., Poorter, L., Wright, I. J., & Villar, R. (2009). Causes and consequences of variation in leaf mass per area (LMA): a meta-analysis. *New phytologist*, *182(3)*, *565-588*.
- Poorter, H., & Van der Werf, A. D. R. I. E. (1998). Is inherent variation in RGR determined by LAR at low irradiance and by NAR at high irradiance? A review of herbaceous species. *Inherent variation in plant* growth. Physiological mechanisms and ecological consequences, 309-336.

- Prashar, A., Yildiz, J., McNicol, J. W., Bryan, G. J., & Jones, H. G. (2013). Infra-red thermography for high throughput field phenotyping in Solanum tuberosum. *PLoS One*, 8(6), e65816.
- Prichard, L., & Barwick, V. (2003). Preparation of calibration curves: A guide to best practice. *LGC Group, Ltd. TR LGC/VAM/2003/032, Teddington, Middlesex, UK.*
- Qin, D., Plattner, G. K., Tignor, M., Allen, S. K., Boschung, J., Nauels, A., ... & Midgley, P. M. (2014). Climate change 2013: the physical science basis. *Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report* of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (eds TF Stocker et al.), 5-14.
- Reich, P. B., & Oleksyn, J. (2004). Global patterns of plant leaf N and P in relation to temperature and latitude. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 101*(30), 11001-11006.
- Reich, P. B., Oleksyn, J., & Wright, I. J. (2009). Leaf phosphorus influences the photosynthesis–nitrogen relation: a cross-biome analysis of 314 species. *Oecologia*, *160*(2), 207-212.
- Saper, R. B., & Rash, R. (2009). Zinc: an essential micronutrient. American family physician, 79(9), 768.
- Saaltink, R. M., Dekker, S. C., Griffioen, J., & Wassen, M. J. (2018). Vegetation growth and sediment dynamics in a created freshwater wetland. *Ecological Engineering*, 111, 11-21.
- Sharkey, T. D., Bernacchi, C. J., Farquhar, G. D., & Singsaas, E. L. (2007). Fitting photosynthetic carbon dioxide response curves for C3 leaves. *Plant, cell & environment, 30*(9), 1035-1040.
- Singh, S. K., & Reddy, V. R. (2016). Methods of mesophyll conductance estimation: its impact on key biochemical parameters and photosynthetic limitations in phosphorus-stressed soybean across CO2. *Physiologia plantarum*, 157(2), 234-254.
- Smith, M. R., & Myers, S. S. (2018). Impact of anthropogenic CO₂ emissions on global human nutrition. *Nature Climate Change*, 8(9), 834-839.
- Smith, N. G., Keenan, T. F., Colin Prentice, I., Wang, H., Wright, I. J., Niinemets, Ü., ... & Zhou, S. X. (2019). Global photosynthetic capacity is optimized to the environment. *Ecology letters*, 22(3), 506-517.
- Sterner, R. W., & Elser, J. J. (2017). Ecological stoichiometry. Princeton university press.
- Taiz, L., & Zeiger, E. (2010). Plant physiology 5th Ed. Sunderland, MA: Sinauer Associates, 464.
- Taub, D. R., Miller, B., & Allen, H. (2008). Effects of elevated CO2 on the protein concentration of food crops: a meta-analysis. *Global Change Biology*, 14(3), 565-575.
- Tester, M., & Langridge, P. (2010). Breeding technologies to increase crop production in a changing world. *Science*, 327(5967), 818-822.
- Thomas, B., Murphy, D. J., & Murray, B. G. (2016). Encyclopedia of applied plant sciences. Academic Press.
- Thompson, M., Gamage, D., Hirotsu, N., Martin, A., & Seneweera, S. (2017). Effects of elevated carbon dioxide on photosynthesis and carbon partitioning: a perspective on root sugar sensing and hormonal crosstalk. *Frontiers in Physiology*, 8, 578.

- Vandegeer, R., Miller, R. E., Bain, M., Gleadow, R. M., & Cavagnaro, T. R. (2012). Drought adversely affects tuber development and nutritional quality of the staple crop cassava (Manihot esculenta Crantz). *Functional Plant Biology*, 40(2), 195-200.
- Von Caemmerer, S. V., & Farquhar, G. D. (1981). Some relationships between the biochemistry of photosynthesis and the gas exchange of leaves. *Planta*, *153*(4), 376-387.
- Von Caemmerer, S. V., & Evans, J. R. (2010). Enhancing C3 photosynthesis. Plant Physiology, 154(2), 589-592.
- Walker, A. P., Beckerman, A. P., Gu, L., Kattge, J., Cernusak, L. A., Domingues, T. F., ... & Woodward, F. I. (2014). The relationship of leaf photosynthetic traits–Vcmax and Jmax–to leaf nitrogen, leaf phosphorus, and specific leaf area: a meta-analysis and modeling study. *Ecology and evolution*, 4(16), 3218-3235.
- Wang, D., Heckathorn, S. A., Barua, D., Joshi, P., Hamilton, E. W., & LaCroix, J. J. (2008). Effects of elevated CO2 on the tolerance of photosynthesis to acute heat stress in C3, C4, and CAM species. *American Journal of Botany*, 95(2), 165-176.
- Westoby, M., Falster, D. S., Moles, A. T., Vesk, P. A., & Wright, I. J. (2002). Plant ecological strategies: some leading dimensions of variation between species. *Annual review of ecology and systematics*, 33(1), 125-159.
- WHO (World Health Organization). (2006). *Guidelines on food fortification with micronutrients*. World Health Organization.
- Wilson, P. J., Thompson, K. E. N., & Hodgson, J. G. (1999). Specific leaf area and leaf dry matter content as alternative predictors of plant strategies. *The New Phytologist*, 143(1), 155-162.
- Wullschleger, S. D. (1993). Biochemical limitations to carbon assimilation in C3 plants—a retrospective analysis of the A/Ci curves from 109 species. *Journal of experimental botany*, 44(5), 907-920.
- Xie, X., Hu, W., Fan, X., Chen, H., & Tang, M. (2019). Interactions between phosphorus, zinc, and iron homeostasis in nonmycorrhizal and mycorrhizal plants. *Frontiers in plant science*, 10, 1172.
- Yu, J., Chen, L., Xu, M., & Huang, B. (2012). Effects of elevated CO2 on physiological responses of tall fescue to elevated temperature, drought stress, and the combined stresses. *Crop Science*, *52*(4), 1848-1858.
- Zheng, Y., Li, F., Hao, L., Yu, J., Guo, L., Zhou, H., ... & Xu, M. (2019). Elevated CO₂ concentration induces photosynthetic down-regulation with changes in leaf structure, non-structural carbohydrates and nitrogen content of soybean. *BMC plant biology*, 19(1), 1-18.
- Zhu, X. G., De Sturler, E., & Long, S. P. (2007). Optimizing the distribution of resources between enzymes of carbon metabolism can dramatically increase photosynthetic rate: a numerical simulation using an evolutionary algorithm. *Plant physiology*, 145(2), 513-526.

Appendix

A: Elemental analysis utilisation

Prepare the sample

To ensure a homogeneous solution, the following steps need to be taken to prepare the sample of 50 μ g:

- 1. Add 4.0 mL Triton 1% solution
- 2. Add 10.0 µL Selenium (Se) as standard
- 3. Add small magnet to be used for shaking the solution
- 4. Put the solution on the magnet

Picofox machine usage

- 1. First a blank measurement had to be done, cleaned and coated discs were put in a tray that is used for the Picofox machine.
- 2. Measure the slides for 100 seconds, assigning a standard element, a standard concentration or mass and the sample mass.
- 3. The peaks were checked, as it is a blanc run, only Silicon, Argon and Molybdenum should have peaks.
- 4. Now, the samples could be added to the slides by pipetting 10 μ L of the sample in the middle of a prepared, cleaned and pre-coated Picofox slide.
- 5. We created duplo's, so a $10.0 \,\mu\text{L}$ droplet of each sample was added to two slides.
- 6. The samples were dried on a special hotplate (level 1) for 2 minutes.
- 7. After the samples were all dry, the slides were put in the tray which can hold 24 slides, and this tray could be inserted in the Picofox machine.
- 8. Create a job on the Picofox computer, put the measure time on 500 seconds and fill in the exact weighted sample amount. Standard amount = $10.0 \mu g$. Units = mg/kg.
- 9. Check if the high voltage (lamp) is on and start the job (measurement).

Cleaning the discs

- 1. First, the disks were cleaned with tissue paper with ethanol
- 2. Afterwards, the disks were placed in the cleaning holder that has been put in a glass beaker with 5% decon solution at 60°C for 1.5 hours.
- 3. The beaker with the holder was put into an ultrasonic bath for 10 minutes and rinsed with water afterwards.
- 4. The holder was put into a 10% HNO₃ solution for 1.5 hours.
- 5. The holder was rinsed thoroughly with demi water
- 6. After this process, the discs holder was placed in a hot oven (warm up at 80°C) turned off (to exclude air flow) for 30 minutes
- 7. The cleaned holder with disks was put away in the desiccator to cool down, and can now be used again.

B: Calibration curve for carbon nitrogen analysis

# in machine	Compound	Weight
1	Nicotinamide	0.5 - 1.0 mg
2	Blank	-
3	Acetanilide	0.2 - 2.0 mg
4	Atropine	0.2 - 2.0 mg
5	IVA (Plant Material)	1.0 - 2.0 mg
6-15	Samples	1.0 - 2.0 mg
16	Blank	-
17	Acetanilide	0.2 - 2.0 mg
18	Atropine	0.2 - 2.0 mg
19	IVA (Plant Material)	1.0 - 2.0 mg
20-30	Samples	1.0 - 2.0 mg
31	Blank	-
32	Acetanilide	0.2 - 2.0 mg
33	Atropine	0.2 - 2.0 mg
34	IVA (Plant Material)	1.0 - 2.0 mg

Table 2: calibration curve for the CN analysis

C: Leaf structural traits

The table below shows the SLA and LMA index used to convert the units of the concentration from g/kg to g/m^2 .

Species	Average weight (kg)	Average area (m2)	SLA (m ² /kg)	LMA (g/m ²)
Apple	0.0013	0.0138	10.307	97.022
Alfalfa	0.0003	0.0014	21.094	47.406
Almond	0.0007	0.0059	8.941	111.846
Grape	0.0007	0.0081	11.483	87.085

Table 3: SLA and LMA index